2009

Hillcrest Investment, Scandia Investment LLC,
Legacy Communities LLC, Charles H. Horman,
M. Gordon Johnson, Autumn Ridge Development
LLC, Alta Ridge Development LLC, Bell Mountain
Corporation v. Sandy City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

The jurisdiction of all appellate courts "shall be provided by statute."¹ Section 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code, provides that: "The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction..., over orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction[.]"² This is an appeal from the final judgment of the Third District Court in a civil matter, and although it has original appellate jurisdiction, the Supreme Court has transferred this matter to the Court of Appeals pursuant to § 78-2-2(4) and § 78-2a-3(2)(j), which provide that the Supreme Court may transfer any matter over which it has original appellate jurisdiction.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Plaintiffs lacked standing to assert rights based on the June 26, 1975 contract between Bell Mountain Corporation and Sandy City and dismissing Plaintiff's claims following a two-day trial.

Standard of Review: A determination of standing is generally a question of law which the Court of Appeals reviews for correctness. *Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Wilkinson*, 946 P.2d 372, 373 (Utah 1997); *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

2. Whether, if the Plaintiffs were not parties to the agreement, they were intended third-party beneficiaries to the agreement and entitled to enforce the agreement.

¹ Utah Const., Article VIII, § 5.

² Utah Code Ann., § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1953, as amended).

Standard of Review: Whether a third-party beneficiary' status exists is determined by examining a written contract and is reviewed for correctness. *Am. Towers Owners Assoc., Inc. v. CCI Mech., Inc.*, 930 P.2d 1182, 1188 (Utah 1996).

3. What significance should be given to the course of dealing between the parties (which shows that before any dispute arose both Plaintiffs and Sandy City interpreted the agreement to waive flood control fees and ½ of the park fees) in interpreting the meaning of the agreement here.

Standard of Review: Whether a contractual term or provision is ambiguous on its face is a question of law. *Daines v. Vincent*, 190 P.3d 1269, 1275-76 (Utah 2008). Once the court determines that the term or provision is facially ambiguous, it may determine the parties' intent through examination of parol evidence, the determination of which presents a question of fact. *Id.* ¶¶ 25-26. "In reviewing a trial court's contract interpretation, we defer to the trial court on questions of fact but not on questions of law." *Peterson v. Sunrider Corp.*, 2002 UT 43, ¶ 14, 48 P.3d 918, 924 (Utah 2002).

4. Whether the trial court erred in failing to interpret the contract in accordance with established principals of contract interpretation, including *contra proferentum*.

Standard of Review: We review a district court's interpretation of a written contract for correctness, granting no deference to the court below. *Home Sav. & Loan v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 817 P.2d 341, 347 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

5. Whether the trial court erred in creating and imposing a time limit upon the "winding up" of a corporation, where no such time limit has been statutorily adopted.

Standard of Review: The proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law. *Rushton v. Salt Lake County*, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999). Therefore, "we accord no deference to the legal conclusions of the district court but review them for correctness." *Id.*

6. Whether the trial court erred by failing to find that Plaintiffs have standing to enforce the agreement, because the agreement runs with the land.

Standard of Review: When reviewing the trial court's interpretation of the contract, which presents a legal question, this court reviews for correctness. *Fairbourn Commercial, Inc. v. Am. Hous. Partners, Inc.*, 94 P.3d 292, 294 (Utah 2004).

RULES AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO APPEAL

Utah Code Ann. 16-10a-1405. Effect of dissolution.

(1) A dissolved corporation continues its corporate existence but may not carry on any business except that appropriate to wind up and liquidate its business and affairs, including:

- (a) collecting its assets;
- (b) disposing of its properties that will not be distributed in kind to its shareholders;
- (c) discharging or making provision for discharging its liabilities;
- (d) distributing its remaining property among its shareholders according to their interests; and
- (e) doing every other act necessary to wind up and liquidate its business and affairs.

(2) Dissolution of a corporation does not:

- (a) transfer title to the corporation's property;
- (b) prevent transfer of its shares or securities, although the authorization to dissolve may provide for closing the corporation's share transfer records;
- (c) subject its directors or officers to standards of conduct different from those prescribed in Part 8;
- (d) change:
 - (i) quorum or voting requirements for its board of directors or shareholders;

- (ii) provisions for selection, resignation, or removal of its directors or officers or both; or
- (iii) provisions for amending its bylaws or its articles of incorporation;
- (e) prevent commencement of a proceeding by or against the corporation in its corporate name;
- (f) abate or suspend a proceeding pending by or against the corporation on the effective date of dissolution; or
- (g) terminate the authority of the registered agent of the corporation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case:

This appeal seeks the reversal of Judge Royal Hansen's decision, following a two-day trial, that Plaintiffs lacked standing to enforce a contract from June 26, 1975 (1975 Contract) between Bell Mountain Corporation (Bell Mountain), Horman properties and Sandy City regarding the development of the Pepperwood residential subdivisions. Plaintiffs/Appellants are the incorporators, owners, assigns and successors in interest to Bell Mountain who developed the "Horman properties."

In 1970, the Horman family purchased nearly 1000 acres of land in Salt Lake County, then adjoining Sandy City and later incorporated into Sandy City, for the purpose of annexing into Sandy City and creating a residential subdivision development. Pursuant to a written agreement dated June 26, 1975, Bell Mountain agreed to finance, design and construct a three million gallon underground reservoir and other water system improvements for Sandy City to allow development to continue. At the time, Sandy was considering a moratorium on all development because they had insufficient culinary water. The 1975 Contract provided that the Horman family would receive partial reimbursement over a ten year period for the cost of the reservoir construction, and most importantly, the waiver of the City's newly

adopted ordinances requiring developers to pay flood fees, park fees and water connection fees over the life of the development of the Horman family property.

The 1975 Contract provided the Horman family would assign their valuable water rights, well and land back to the City, which they did. Following the 1975 Contract, the Horman family continued their development. The water rights and well surrendered by the Hormans in the 1975 Contract are worth tens of millions of dollars.

For decades following the 1975 Contract, Plaintiffs continued to develop the Horman family property in phases of the Pepperwood development, using a variety of entities, corporations, LLC's and proprietorships. Sandy honored the 1975 Contract in dealing with the Horman family, long after Bell Mountain Corporation ceased to exist.

Within the last few years, however, Sandy City enacted substantially increased flood control fees and began to violate the 1975 Contract by charging the Harmon family entities the flood control fee and requiring payment of the full park fee.

This dispute arises from the recent change in Sandy's position, requiring payment of over one-and-a-half-million dollars in flood control fees plus park fees from the Horman family entities and their buyers, which fees were expressly waived in the 1975 Contract. Plaintiffs/Appellants sued Sandy City, alleging four causes of action: (1) Breach of Contract; (2) Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; (3) Conversion; and (4) Declaratory Judgment.

After a two-day bench trial, Judge Royal Hansen determined that Plaintiffs/Appellants did not have standing to enforce the terms of the 1975 Contract, and dismissed all of

Plaintiffs' claims. The issue of Plaintiffs' standing had been raised three previous times in these proceedings by Sandy City. Each time, the court denied the City's motions to dismiss and/or for summary judgment based on Plaintiffs' lack of standing.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below:

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on September 7, 2005. A motion to dismiss was filed by Sandy City on October 17, 2005, on grounds and for the reason that "Plaintiffs do not have standing to bring this action, do not own the claims they assert, and have failed to plead adequate facts to establish ownership of the claims they assert." (Court Record (hereinafter designated as "R."), 63-83, Motion to Dismiss, dated October 17, 2005.)

The motion to dismiss was denied by Judge Christiansen on January 9, 2006. In ruling on the motion to dismiss, the court stated that, based on the pleadings and relevant case precedent, it "must assume . . . Plaintiffs are the successors in interest to the 1975 Agreement. How, why, when or even if they actually attained such status can be determined through discovery Accordingly, Plaintiffs have standing to sue to protect their interests under the June 25, 1975 Agreement with Sandy City[.]" (R. 207-209, Order dated January 9, 2006 by Judge Terry L. Christiansen.)

Following extensive discovery, Sandy City moved for Summary Judgment on the basis that the 1975 agreement "(1) is not a covenant running with the land; (2) has not been validly assigned to the plaintiffs; and (3) none of the plaintiffs are parties to the agreement, thus precluding any enforceable rights on which to base their claim." (R. 234-302, Motion dated October 13, 2006.) The Horman family responded that the 1975 Contract was properly

assigned to Plaintiffs; the 1975 Contract remains in effect; and, the 1975 Contract runs with the land. (R. 306-692, Memorandum in Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment dated November 8, 2006.)

On May 23, 2007, following oral argument, the court denied summary judgment, finding issues of fact remain as to the reasonable time for winding up the affairs of Bell Mountain, the meaning of paragraph 12 of the 1975 Agreement, and whether the contractual provisions "run with the land". (R. 761-763, Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment, dated May 23, 2007.)

Trial was held on October 21-22, 2008, with a closing argument on December 10, 2008. Following trial, the court asked for submissions of findings of fact and conclusions of law. Rather than use the form of findings and conclusions submitted by the parties, the court relied on its own findings and conclusions. The court found the 1975 Contract was entered into by Bell Mountain and Sandy City. (R. 1117-1130, ¶ 1, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order dated January 27, 2009.) The court found the 1975 Contract to be binding on both parties, their successors and assigns. (*Id.* ¶ 6.) However, the court concluded Plaintiffs were not assignees of Bell Mountain nor third party beneficiaries under the 1975 Contract. (*Id.* at ¶¶18-20.) The court also concluded the 1975 Contract did not run with the land. (*Id.* at ¶ 21.)

Based on its conclusions, the court then held that Plaintiffs lacked standing to enforce the 1975 Contract. (*Id.* at ¶22.)

Statement of Facts with Reference to the District Court Record

1. In 1970, the Horman family purchased nearly 1000 acres of land in Salt Lake County, which was known to Sandy from that time forward as "Horman properties³." (R. 1464, Trial Transcript ("Tr."), p. 13, lns. 23-24; p. 14, lns. 16-18; p. 16, lns. 21-25; R. 1464, Tr., p. 387, lns. 15-24; p. 390, lns. 17-23; *see also* Trial Exhibit 138; Trial Exhibit 139.)

2. The Horman family members owning the property planned to develop it into a subdivision and explored annexing it into Sandy. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 16, lns. 13-15; R. 1465, Tr., p. 259, lns. 19-25; p. 260, lns. 1-23.)

3. Prior to annexation, Sandy required culinary water to be available to the Horman properties, as the existing water companies and their assets were not sufficient to service the proposed subdivision. The Horman family had valuable water rights and proposed to use their water rights to create a water company to service their land. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 15, lns. 13-23; R. 1465, Tr., p. 269, lns. 2-8.)

4. After showing the feasibility of a new water company, Sandy allowed the land to be annexed. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 16, lns. 13-20.)

5. When annexed, the property began to be known as the "Pepperwood" area. This was the anticipated name to be used for the anticipated subdivision development. (R.

³ The property is described in various Sandy City documents, including the 1975 Contract, as follows: "Horman properties located east of 2000 east [sic], north of 12000 south [sic] and south of 10000 south [sic]." *See* Exhibit 6(C). This description was authored by Sandy City. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 40, lns. 1-23.) Within the area bounded by 20th East, 120th South and 100th South, the approximate 1,000 acres belonging to the Horman family was wholly located. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 14, lns. 16-26; p. 15, lns. 1-3; R. 1465, Tr., p. 266, lns. 17-25; p. 267, lns. 1-3; *see also* Trial Exhibit 41.)

1464, Tr., p. 17, lns. 2-12; R. 1465, Tr., p. 259, lns. 4-23; p. 262, lns. 8-11; p. 321, lns. 4-14; *see also* Trial Exhibit 139.)

6. The first portion of the Horman properties was annexed into Sandy in 1972. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 19, lns. 3-8.)

7. By 1974, the Hormans had recorded two phases of their Pepperwood development containing 141 lots (of which most had been sold), three water wells had been drilled, a pump ordered, construction on a reservoir commenced and several miles of water lines installed. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 20, lns. 1-25; p. 21, lns. 1-25; *see also* Trial Exhibit 2.)

8. Shortly after the initial work was done, Sandy City passed an ordinance which prohibited any water company, other than Sandy, to make new connections within the City. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 22, lns. 6-20; *see also* Trial Exhibit 8.)

9. This ordinance specifically targeted the Horman family water rights. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 22, lns. 9-20.) The family water rights were much more valuable than the property. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 25, lns. 2-7; R. 1465, Tr., p. 270, lns. 12-25.)

10. As a result, the Horman family had no reasonable alternative but to enter into an agreement dated May 31, 1974 (referred to herein as "1974 Contract") with Sandy. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 26, lns. 7-20; R. 1465, Tr., p. 271, lns. 1-20; *see also* Trial Exhibit 9.)

11. The 1974 Contract was signed by Charles Horman on behalf of the entity "S. M. Horman & Sons Company," a Utah partnership. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 25, lns. 8-17; *see* Trial Exhibit 9.)

12. The 1974 Contract required the Horman family to turn over all water rights, pipe lines and operating well to the City, including the land on which the well was located. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 28, lns. 13-25; p. 29, lns. 1-5; *see* Trial Exhibit 9.)

13. The consideration paid by Sandy to the Hormans was only a small fraction of the value of the water infrastructure transferred; however, the ability to proceed with development of their land without litigation motivated the Horman family to enter into the 1974 Contract. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 24, lns. 6-25; p. 25, lns. 1-7; p. 26, lns. 6-20.; *see* Trial Exhibit 8.)

14. The 1974 Contract contemplated that the City would meet the requirements mandated by the Board of Health, which included adequate water pressure and fire protection flow rates. This, however, would require the construction of a storage reservoir. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 28, lns. 13-25; p. 29, lns. 6-19; R. 1465, Tr., p. 271, lns. 4-25; *see* Trial Exhibit 9.)

15. By early 1975, Sandy City's water system was not in compliance with the requirements of the Board of Health because the City had failed to construct a reservoir which would provide adequate fire protection flow rates and water pressure. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 32, lns. 18-25; p. 33, lns. 1-25; R. 1465, Tr., p. 271, lns. 4-25.)

16. Consequently, Sandy City passed a moratorium which prohibited any new home construction or lot development on the Horman properties. The failure to provide water and adoption of the moratorium created a default under the 1974 Contract. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 32, lns. 18-25; p. 33, lns. 1-25; p. 34, lns. 1-6; *see* Trial Exhibit 10, p.2.)

17. In early 1975, Sandy City also passed an ordinance concerning development fees to be assessed by the Sandy City engineer for flood control drainage and maintenance, and provided that the fees would be collected from the developers in advance. Collection in advance was motivated by Sandy City's then-existing financial problems. (*See* Trial Exhibit 11.)

18. Sandy City acknowledged the default under the 1974 Contract, but represented to the Horman family that they intended to build a reservoir. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 33, lns. 10-15.) However, since it only served a small area and would be expensive, the new reservoir was a low priority and had not yet been budgeted by Sandy. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 33, lns. 15-17.)

19. In an effort to solve the water problems for Sandy City and to continue their development, the Horman family offered to build a reservoir for Sandy. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 33, lns. 18-25; R. 1465, Tr., p. 271, lns. 8-25; p. 272, lns. 1-3.)

20. On June 25, 1975 the Horman family contracted with Sandy City to solve the construction moratorium, rather than pursuing lengthy litigation for the default under the 1974 Contract. (R. 1464, Tr., p. 55, lns. 9-23; R. 1465, Tr., p. 295, lns. 17-24.)

21. The Sandy City Council proposed the terms of the 1975 Contract, which is set forth in the Sandy City Council minutes. (*See* Trial Exhibit 10.)

22. The language of the 1975 Contract was taken directly from the minutes of the Sandy City Council meeting. (*See* Trial Exhibit 6(C); Trial Exhibit 10.)

23. The Sandy City Council minutes state Sandy City would agree to "Defer all water connection and associated water charges of the Bell Mountain Corp. and Horman

properties located east of 2000 East, north of 12000 South and south of 10000 South until water is required by the individual lot owners." (See Trial Exhibit 10, emphasis added).

24. The Sandy City Council approved the agreement and proposed that the Mayor, then Dewey Bluth, sign the agreement on behalf of Sandy City. (See Trial Exhibit 6(C); Trial Exhibit 10.)

25. The 1975 Contract was signed by Charles Horman on behalf of "Bell Mountain Corporation" and refers to "Horman properties" as well as "successors and assigns." (See Trial Exhibit 6(C).)

26. Under the 1975 Contract, the Bell Mountain agreed to finance, design and construct a three million gallon underground reservoir for Sandy. (See Trial Exhibit 6(C), ¶¶ 1-2.)

27. The 1975 Contract also provided that Bell Mountain would receive some reimbursement over a ten year period for the cost of the reservoir construction, as well as the waiver of the newly passed ordinances requiring developers to pay flood fees, park fees and water connection fees over the life of the development of the Horman properties. (See Trial Exhibit 6(C), ¶¶ 9-12; see Trial Exhibit 13; Trial Exhibit 14.)

28. The 1975 Contract provided that the undeveloped portion of the Pepperwood Subdivision area would be exempt from paying Sandy initial flood control fees and one half of Sandy required park fees in exchange for Bell Mountain constructing water storage improvements for the benefit of Sandy. (R. 1464, p. 39, lns. 1-25; p. 40, lns. 1-14; p. 42, lns. 12-24; p. 70, lns. 7-25; p. 71, lns. 1-3; R. 1465, p. 259, lns. 4-18; see Exhibit 6(C).

29. In reliance on the terms of the 1975 Contract, Bell Mountain provided water storage improvements to Sandy, which included a three million (3,000,000) gallon underground concrete water reservoir, and drilling several wells in the vicinity of the Pepperwood Subdivision. (R. 1464, p. 28, lns. 13-24; p. 53, lns. 9-19; p. 87, lns. 1-7; p. 93, lns. 8-24; *see* Exhibit 6(C).)

30. The 1975 Contract also provided the Horman family would assign their valuable water rights, well and land back to the City. (R. 1465, Tr., p. 273, lns. 2-15; *see* Trial Exhibit 6(C), ¶ 18(1).)

31. The Horman family also received the ability to continue their development under the 1975 Contract. (R. 1464, p. 35, lns. 18-24; *see* Exhibit 6(C).)

32. The water rights and well given up by the Hormans in the 1975 Contract are worth millions of dollars. (R. 1464, p. 25, lns. 4-7; R. 1465, p. 295, lns. 1-14.)

33. For decades following the 1975 Contract, the Hormans continued to develop the Horman properties in phases of the Pepperwood development, using a variety of entities, corporations, LLCs and proprietorships. (R. 1464, p. 206, lns. 13-25; p. 207, lns. 1-25; p. 208, lns. 1-11.)

34. From 1975 until only recently, Sandy City's practice was not to charge the Horman properties for either flood maintenance fees or flood control basin fees, consistent with the 1975 Contract's requirements. (R. 1465, p. 402, lns. 4-25; p. 403, lns. 1-25; p. 404, lns. 1-6; *see* Exhibit 21.)

35. Sandy honored the 1975 Contract long after Bell Mountain Corporation ceased to operate. (R. 1464, p. 87, lns. 16-22.)

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