2009

Hillcrest Investment, Scandia Investment LLC,
Legacy Communities LLC, CHarles Horman ,M.
Gordon Johnson, Autumn Rldge Development
LLC, Alta Ridge Development LLC v. Sandy City :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Plaintiffs lack standing to enforce the Agreement because the Agreement is not a covenant that runs with the land. The Utah Supreme Court has identified four elements required for a contractual covenant to run with the land: (1) the covenant must touch and concern the land, (2) the covenanting parties must intend the covenant to run with the land, (3) there must be privity of estate, and (4) the agreement must be in writing. The absence of any of the four elements prevents a covenant from running with the land. Here, two of the four required elements are

absent. The Agreement was not intended to run with the land, and there is no privity of estate.

II. Plaintiffs lack standing to enforce the Agreement because the Agreement was never lawfully assigned to the Plaintiffs. BMC did not execute an assignment of the Agreement to Longview when BMC transferred all of its rights, title and interest in the land comprising the various Pepperwood developments to Longview in 1987. Further, there is no evidence that Longview executed an assignment of the Agreement when it transferred the land to Plaintiffs. In addition, the 2005 Assignment allegedly executed by BMC to Plaintiffs is invalid. BMC was liquidated and wound up its corporate affairs and ceased engaging in any business activity after transferring the land to Longview in 1987. BMC was also administratively dissolved in 1993. Thus, under Utah Code Ann. § 16-10a-1405(1), BMC had no authority to engage in new business activity and execute the assignment in 2005 because it had wound up its corporate affairs and was liquidated almost twenty years earlier, and ceased to exist as a business entity at all over ten years earlier.

III. Plaintiffs lack standing to enforce the Agreement because Plaintiffs are not third party beneficiaries of the Agreement. First, neither BMC nor the City intended Plaintiffs to be third party beneficiaries because none of the Plaintiffs are

named in the Agreement. Indeed, none of the Plaintiff entities even existed at the time the Agreement was executed. Second, even if the Plaintiffs are treated as synonymous with the term “Horman properties” in the Agreement, Paragraph 12 clearly distinguishes between BMC, Horman properties and the RP Zone lot owners and the benefits conferred upon each. BMC and the RP Zone lot owners were to receive the benefit of the Fee Waiver Provision. Horman properties, however, was to receive the benefit of deferring payment of all water connection fees and charges until the individual lot owners applied for building permits. Finally, the facts that existed at the time the Agreement was executed demonstrate that neither BMC nor the City intended that all of the land that comprised Horman properties was to receive the benefit of the fee waiver.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT PLAINTIFFS LACK STANDING TO ENFORCE THE AGREEMENT BECAUSE THE AGREEMENT DOES NOT CREATE A COVENANT THAT RUNS WITH THE LAND.

The trial court ruled that the Agreement did not create a covenant running with the land because there was no privity of estate between the City and BMC, and because Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden to establish that BMC and the City ever intended the Agreement to run with the land. [Addendum B ¶ 21.] Plaintiffs have challenged that ruling, insisting that, as a matter of law, the Agreement runs with the

land.

An agreement creates a personal covenant when it gives rise to an enforceable duty only between the original covenanting parties. By contrast, a covenant running with the land creates an interest or burden based upon ownership of land. The Utah Supreme Court has identified four elements required for a contractual covenant to run with the land.

(1) the covenant must touch and concern the land, (2) the covenanting parties must intend the covenant to run with the land, (3) there must be privity of estate, and (4) the agreement must be in writing.

Flying Diamond Oil Corp. v. Newton Sheep Co., 776 P.2d 618, 627 (Utah 1989).

The absence of any of the required elements “prevents a covenant from running with the land.” Id. at 623.

The case law requires that the document creating a covenant running with the land be in the chain of title. This is the “privity of estate” element outlined by the Utah Supreme Court in Flying Diamond. “Privity of estate requires a particular kind of relationship between the original covenantor and the covenantee.” Id. at 628.

The types of privity [of estate] are (1) mutual, *i.e.*, a covenant arising from simultaneous interests in the same land; (2) horizontal, *i.e.*, a covenant created in connection with the conveyance of an estate from one of the parties to another; and (3) vertical, *i.e.*, the devolution of an estate

burdened or benefitted by a covenant from an original covenanting party to a successor.

Id. (citations, footnote omitted). The key is that by one or more of the three methods noted above, privity must exist between the original covenantor and covenantee. In the instant case, the Agreement lies outside the chain of title and lacks the requisite privity of estate. First, Sandy City was never in the chain of title to the property in issue. [See Addendum B ¶ 21; Ex. 104.] Second, the deed whereby BMC transferred the property mentioned in the Agreement to Longview Development makes no mention of the Agreement. [See Ex. 4.] Third, the deeds whereby Longview Development transferred the property mentioned in the Agreement to Plaintiffs also make no mention of the Agreement. [See id.] The absence of privity of estate precludes the argument that the Agreement created a covenant that runs with the land.

In addition, there is no evidence of intent by the parties that the Agreement was to run with the land. The Flying Diamond court held that an express written statement that the parties intend the covenant to run with the land is dispositive of the issue of intent. Id. at 627. The inverse of that rule of law exists here – there is no such express statement. There is no language in the Agreement evidencing intent that the Fee Waiver Provision extend beyond the property being developed at the time it was owned by BMC. Moreover, one cannot intend to create rights in entities

that do not even exist. The very proposition defeats itself. The boilerplate language in paragraph 20 of the Agreement providing that the Agreement is “binding on both parties, their successors and assigns” does not make the covenant “run with the land.” It merely acknowledges that the document is assignable. A successor to the contract is not necessarily a successor to all of the land mentioned in the contract – hence the inconsistency of Plaintiffs’ position. Different land was conveyed to different Plaintiffs and yet they all claim that they were assigned the Agreement. The Agreement is not severable to be carved up in so many pieces. The assertion makes no sense. Also, the Agreement was never recorded. Nothing in the chain of title to the property in question identifies or in any way mentions the Agreement.

As a result, two of the four requisites for a covenant to run with the land are absent here, *i.e.*, privity of estate and written evidence of intent. The Agreement, therefore, does not run with the land.

II. THE EVIDENCE CONCLUSIVELY SUPPORTS THE FINDING OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT PLAINTIFFS LACK STANDING TO ENFORCE THE AGREEMENT BECAUSE THE AGREEMENT WAS NEVER LAWFULLY ASSIGNED TO PLAINTIFFS.

The trial court found as a matter of fact that the Agreement was not assigned during the winding up process of BMC. [Addendum B ¶ 16.] This finding of fact has not been challenged. The only other possibility for assignment occurred when an assignment was created in response to the City’s initial Motion to Dismiss. The

trial court ruled that this 2005 assignment was void because BMC no longer existed as a viable entity by that time because by 2005 it had been dissolved by the state, its affairs had been wound up, assets transferred and too much time had passed to reasonably contend that any corporate viability remained in BMC. [Addendum B ¶ 19.] The trial court's legal conclusion has been challenged by the Plaintiffs in this appeal.

For Plaintiffs to achieve standing by demonstrating that BMC lawfully assigned its contractual rights under the Agreement to Plaintiffs in order for Plaintiffs to be lawful assignees to the Agreement, they needed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that BMC validly assigned the Agreement to Longview Development, and that Longview Development validly assigned the Agreement to each of the Plaintiffs. The evidence presented at trial (or rather the lack of it) conclusively demonstrated that no such assignments were ever made – and the court so found. [Addendum B ¶¶ 16, 17.]

Six years prior to its administrative dissolution in 1993, Bell Mountain distributed its real property assets – *i.e.*, the 900+ acres comprising the various Pepperwood developments – to Longview Development. According to Plaintiffs, upon transferring the property to Longview Development, BMC was “liquidated” and wound up its corporate affairs, paid its creditors, filed its final tax returns and

did not engage in any further business activity. [Ex. 102; R. 1464; Tr. p. 220.]

BMC did not, however, execute any assignment of its rights under the Agreement to Longview Development prior to or during BMC's liquidation and/or winding upon process:

Q [by Mr. Hunt]: And so it went to Longview, the assignment would have been from Bell Mountain to Longview, correct?

A [by Mr. Evans]: You know, the liquidation of Bell Mountain Corporation was a very complex liquidation. You're dealing with a company that had been in existence - so the answer to your question is no, it's more complex than that . . . So the answer to that is no.

[R. 1464; Tr. p. 211.] (emphasis added). Indeed, David Evans, Plaintiffs' accountant who managed the BMC liquidation, admitted that "I doubt that I was even aware of that specific contract when we did [the liquidation] back in '87. . . I don't recall specifically addressing the 1975 agreement as part of the liquidation."

[R. 1464; Tr. p. 165.] Moreover, Plaintiffs failed to present any evidence of assignments of the Agreement made by Longview Development to Plaintiffs – that is because no such assignments were ever made. Plaintiffs' assertion that they are lawful assignees of the Agreement is without merit – there is simply no evidence to support the proposition and they have utterly failed to marshal the evidence and attack the findings made by the trial court.

Further evidence of the lack of any lawful assignment of the Agreement is found in Plaintiffs' belated attempt to execute an assignment in response to Sandy City's Motion to Dismiss this action. On November 8, 2005 – over three months after they commenced this litigation, nearly twenty years after BMC wound up its corporate affairs and over ten years after BMC was administratively dissolved – Plaintiffs attempted to execute an “assignment” of the Agreement from BMC directly to Plaintiffs. [Ex. 25.] Not only is the November 8, 2005 assignment an indisputable confession that a valid assignment of the Agreement was never made, it is invalid on its face.

It is well-settled that Plaintiffs' attempt at assignment by a defunct business entity is prohibited by law. Under Utah Code Ann. § 16-10a-1405(1), after BMC was administratively dissolved by operation of law on November 1, 1993, it had authority only to conduct activities “appropriate to wind up and liquidate its business and affairs.” According to Plaintiffs' witness, David Evans, however, Bell Mountain had completed the winding up process and was “liquidated” six years earlier, namely, in 1987 when it transferred all of its undeveloped property to Longview Development. [Ex. 102; R. 1464; Tr. p. 220.] Indeed, according to Mr. Evans, following this “liquidation”, BMC ceased to engage in any further business activity. [Id.] Thus, under Utah Code Ann. § 16-10a-1405(1), BMC had no

authority to engage in new business activity and execute the assignment in 2005 because it had wound up its corporate affairs and was liquidated almost twenty years earlier, and had ceased to exist as a business entity at all over ten years earlier.

Case law from other jurisdictions confirms this conclusion. The Maine Supreme Court addressed the issue of assignment by a dissolved corporation in facts similar to those here. Sturtevant v. Winthrop, 732 A.2d 264 (Me. 1999). In Sturtevant, a corporation had entered into a snow removal contract with a town. The corporation was subsequently dissolved and the sole shareholder continued to perform snow removal services until the contract was terminated by the City for cause. The shareholder sued and the town asserted that he lacked standing because the contract was between the town and the corporation, not the shareholder. The shareholder based his standing claim on an affidavit in which he stated that all corporate assets and liabilities were distributed to him personally in the dissolution. The trial court found no evidence of a specific assignment and held that there was no assignment of the contract. The Maine Supreme Court affirmed.

The Sturtevant court first noted that the plaintiff had the burden of proof to establish the assignment by a preponderance of evidence. Id. at 267. The court concluded that the burden was not met.

For an assignment to be enforceable there must be an act or manifestation by the assignor indicating the intent to transfer the right to the assignee. In this case there was no evidence of a manifestation of the corporate intent to transfer the contract rights at the time the corporation was in existence, and the trial court was not compelled to find that an assignment had occurred. No corporate records were presented to show that an assignment had taken place while the corporation was in existence.

Id. (emphasis added and citations omitted).

In a footnote, the court suggested the possibility that even if the assignment were made, it would not be effective beyond the existence of the corporation, in that case two years after dissolution pursuant to statute.

Even if the court had found an assignment, it is not clear it would give Sturtevant the right to sue on the contract more than two years after the dissolution. Several courts have concluded that an assignee of a corporate right cannot assert that right after the expiration of the survival statute, because that would violate the rule that an assignee has no greater rights than his assignor and would defeat the statute's purpose of providing a fixed time limit for the wind up of corporate affairs.

Sturtevant at 267 n.4 (citations omitted); see also Davis v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 727 F.Supp. 549, 553 (D. S.D. 1989) (extending corporate rights beyond the two-year renewal period “would expand the corporate survival statute beyond its terms and would interfere with its purpose of requiring the prompt and orderly winding up and finalization of corporate affairs.”) Utah law is in accord: Aird Ins.

Agency v. Zions 1st Nat'l Bank, 612 P.2d 341, 344 (Utah 1980) (“[A]n assignee gains nothing more, and acquires no greater interest than had his assignor . . .”); Lone Mountain Production Co. v. Natural Gas Pipeline Co., 701 F.Supp. 305, 309 (D. Ut. 1989) (“Once a valid assignment is made, the assignee stands in the shoes of the assignor; the assignee gains nothing more than his assignor had.”)

Moreover, absent evidence of intent to create the assignment prior to the assignment actually being made, the Sturtevant court refused to find an assignment based upon subsequent conduct.

Simply because a corporation is dissolved and the shareholder represents, in the boilerplate language of the articles of dissolution form, that the corporate assets have been distributed to the shareholder does not necessarily mean that a contract to which the corporation was a party has been assigned to the shareholder.

Sturtevant, 732 A.2d at 267 (distinguishing between “contracts” and “assets”).

A Texas appellate court reached a similar conclusion. “Obviously an assignee cannot sue on a claim obtained from the corporation after it [the corporation] loses the right to do business in Texas because such a rule would encourage assignment of claims rather than payment of [corporate] franchise taxes.” Rushing v. Int'l Aviation Underwriters, Inc., 604 S.W.2d 239, 242 (Tex. App. 1980). Likewise, to allow Plaintiffs to assign the Agreement after BMC lost the right to do business in Utah over ten years prior to the assignment would undermine the very purpose of Utah

Code Ann. § 16-10a-1405(1) and Utah's corporate laws generally.

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